STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

APR 14 2015

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Greenville County

S.C. Supreme Court

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

TIMOTHY LEE OWENS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001950  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding plea counsel effective where there was no probative evidence that plea counsel timely or fully communicated the State's plea offer of a twelve year cap to Petitioner and plea counsel took no action to address the State's failure to make any recommendation at the plea hearing such that Petitioner received a sentence of eighteen years, six years greater than the plea offer?

## STATEMENT

On November 20, 2012, Petitioner Timothy Owens was indicted by the Greenville County grand jury for one count of burglary second degree (violent), two counts of grand larceny between \$2,000 and \$10,000 (third offense), and three counts breaking and entering a motor vehicle, all alleged to have occurred on May 27, 2012.<sup>1</sup> App. 77 – 78, 80 – 81, 83 – 84, 86 – 87, 89 – 90, and 92 – 93. The State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Life Without Parole on November 21, 2012.

On December 5, 2012, Owens appeared before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. and pled guilty to the above-listed offenses. Owens was represented by Larry Cooke and the State was represented by assistant solicitor Jennifer Tessitore. App. 1. Judge Seals sentenced Owens to thirteen years for second degree burglary and one year on each of the remaining offenses, all to be served consecutively, for a total of eighteen years. App. 18, ll. 16-21.

On June 10, 2013, Owens filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 20 – 26. The State filed its Return on October 18, 2013. App. 27 – 31. On June 17, 2014, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell. Owens was represented by Caroline M. Horlbeck, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Karen Ratigan. App. 32. The witnesses at the hearing included Owens and plea counsel, Larry Cooke.

On August 13, 2014, Judge Stilwell issued an Order of Dismissal denying Owen's application for post-conviction relief.

This Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> As part of the plea agreement, the State dismissed two counts of auto-breaking, one count of grand larceny, one count of possession of burglary tools, and one count of resisting arrest. App. 10, ll. 12-18.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court erred in finding plea counsel effective where there was no probative evidence that plea counsel timely or fully communicated the State's plea offer of a twelve year cap to Petitioner and plea counsel took no action to address the State's failure to make any recommendation at the plea hearing such that Petitioner received a sentence of eighteen years, six years greater than the plea offer.**

### Relevant Facts

#### *Guilty Plea Hearing*

After the clerk recited the indictments to which Owens was pleading guilty, the solicitor indicated that "there is no recommendation." App. 3, ll. 6-23. She then stated that "the State will have a position as to sentencing of course." App. 3, l. 25 – 4, l. 1. When asked if his lawyer had answered all of his questions, Owens responded "uh, no, sir, I don't --- know why." App. 5, ll. 17-20. Plea counsel then informed the court that Owens had a question about parole eligibility, which counsel does not give advice on but instead leaves up to the Department of Corrections. App. 6, ll. 2-4. The court took a break so that Owens could speak with his attorney. App. 6, ll. 5-11. When they came back on the record, plea counsel indicated that Owens still wanted to pled guilty and the court conducted the remainder of the plea colloquy. App. 6, l. 22 – 7, l. 2.

The Court asked Owens if his lawyer had done everything that he asked and if he needed more time, at which point plea counsel said "Time to – hey, If you got a complain, it's time to, time to do is not not [sic] later, now is the time to do it." App. 7, ll. 7-12. Owens indicated that he was ready to proceed and understood that his attorney's hands are tied and the solicitor is in control of his case. App. 7, ll. 14-24. The Court then asked if anyone has promised Owens any type of reward or gift to get him to plead guilty, to which Owens responded:

Only the fact, your Honor, is if I don't plead guilty today they're seekin' [sic] life without the possibility of parole next week. Uh, the solicitor's office have sent me two pleas, one was a[n] open plea and I had no information on that and I couldn't get any and I wrote the

solicitor's office and asked for a, uh, to let me plead guilty to a non-violent 10. She came back and said that, uh, she would put a 12-year cap on it and, uh, I was wrastlin' [sic] with that because, uh, she's also tacking on the violence of the, of the second degree burglary which it wasn't a violent crime and I I'm not a violent person but uh, you know, under the circumstances I just want to get this over with, I wanna [sic] get everything behind me so I can go on and make my life better in the future, you know, I'm tired of tyin' [sic] up the county's time and money, I just wanna [sic] get it all over with. I've made a lotta [sic] mistakes in my life and I'd just like to get it all behind me.

App. 8, l. 16 – 9, l. 1. The Court then asked “well other than negotiations regarding this plea, has anybody promised you any money or gifts --- anything like that to induce you into pleading guilty?” Owens responded “no.” App. 9, ll. 8-13. After the remainder of the colloquy, the State recited its version of the facts of the case and Owen's criminal history. App. 10, l. 18 – 14, l. 9. The State requested imposition of a “significant sentence.” App. 14, ll. 9-21. The Court accepted Owen's plea, finding that it was given freely, intelligently, and with advise of competent counsel. App. 14, ll. 22-23.

Regarding sentencing, plea counsel said:

[W]e had this thing down to a a a ceiling of of 12 years at one point in time and, uh, we couldn't, we couldn't get together on the violent as opposed to non-violent, uh, then she [the solicitor] sprung that to, she [the solicitor] sprung that life without parole on me and a course that's my my doin[g], I mean, my, of course my client, I was havin[g] to negotiate at his directions most [of] the time but anyhow she served that on me and I didn't have any choice...”

App. 15, l. 23 – 16, l. 5. He then emphasized to the court that Owens is fifty years old such that a long sentence is the equivalent of a death sentence. App. 16, ll. 9-13. Owens then addressed the court, stating that despite his criminal record, he had gotten his life back on track after his release in 2009. However, in September 2011 things began to unravel when his mother fell ill and moved into a nursing home, his wife left him, and he violated his probation when he fell back into drugs. He

returned to his home to find it vandalized and his truck stolen. Owens began staying at the Salvation Army and finding work where he could, but continued to struggle with his addiction. App. 16, l. 15 – 18, l. 5. He asked the court for mercy. App. 18, ll. 5-15.

The court imposed consecutive sentences of thirteen years for second degree burglary and one year on each of the remaining offenses, for a total of eighteen years. App. 18, ll. 16-21.

### ***PCR Hearing***

Both Owens and plea counsel, Larry Cooke, testified at the June 17, 2014 PCR hearing. Owens testified that he did not receive the State's second plea offer of either "straight up to 5 of 11 charges OR if you want a cap . . . 12 years" until after expiration of the acceptance deadline of October 27, 2012. App. 36, l. 1 – 37, l. 14; App. 38, l. 21 – 39, l. 5; see App. 65-66 (Pet'r's Ex. 1, amended offer letter, Oct. 4, 2012). He said that the plea offer was enclosed with discovery materials mailed to him on November 27, 2012. App. 37, l. 20 – 38, l. 20; App. 47, l. 25 – 48, l. 10; 49, ll. 18-25; see App. 67 (Pet'r's Ex. 2, cover letter, Nov. 27, 2012). Owens wanted to accept the twelve year plea offer but said that no one from the public defender's office meet with at the jail to review it. App. 39, l. 15 – 40, l. 9. He said that he called to speak to Cooke numerous times but was only able to speak with any investigator named Robin, who said she would relay his messages. App. 40, ll. 12-24. A visitation log from the Greenville County Detention Center was admitted into evidence and reflected that Cooke made only two visits to see Owens, one on August 8, 2012 and the other on December 4, 2012. App. 41, ll. 6-23; see App. 68 (Pet'r's Ex. 3, visitation log). Owens also recalled that he was served at the end of November with a notice that the State was seeking life without parole. App. 42, ll. 18-23; App. 46, l. 22 – 47, l. 3.

Regarding his understanding of his case status based on his December 4, 2012 visit from Cooke, Owens said that he "was going in front of the judge for a plea offer and [he] was to plead

guilty and accept the 12-year cap.” App. 42, l. 2-9; App. 43, ll. 4-17; App. 53, ll. 3-17. However, he testified that the State did not uphold the offer at the hearing but instead asked for a lengthy sentence. App 43, ll. 18-20; App. 45, ll. 3-13. He said that when he talked to plea counsel at the break, Cooke said “I got this . . . . Just let me handle this, I got this, everything’s going to be all right. We’ve got a good judge. Everything’s going to be all right.” App. 44, ll. 7-17. He said that after the judge sentenced him, he told Cooke “this is not our agreement” and asked to withdraw his plea but was advised that all he could do is file for PCR. App. 44, ll. 20-25. Owens testified that had he known that there was no recommendation for twelve years, he would not have pled guilty and that he told Cooke on numerous occasions that he would not take a plea without a cap. App. 46, ll. 11-19. Owens also said that the “without recommendation” box was not checked on the sentencing sheet when he signed it. App. 49, ll. 9-12.

At the beginning of his testimony, plea counsel explained that he did not have Owens’ case file because it could not be located in storage, so he could testify based only on the investigator’s notes in the public defender database.<sup>2</sup> App. 52, l. 25 – 53, l. 8. Cooke had no independent recollection of receiving the amended plea offer, saying “[i]f it came, then fine. I don’t know” but that he does not dispute it. App. 53, ll. 17-22. He testified that his “standard practice” is to send a copy of any plea offer from the State to the client either by mail or by having an investigator take it to the jail. App. 53, l. 23 – 54, l. 4. He also said “[u]sually, we’ll end up talking about it at some point in time.” App. 54, ll. 5-6.

Plea counsel testified that the defender data notes reflect that he contacted the solicitor on June 15, 2012 to request a plea offer. App. 53, ll. 9-13. On July 30, 2012, the client called and

---

<sup>2</sup> Cooke testified that he works at the public defender’s office “part-time.” App. 54, l. 4. He is an attorney in private practice who accepts contract cases from the public defender’s office.

requested drug court and a jail visit. App. 54, ll. 8-10. On August 27, 2012, he wrote to Owens and told him that the solicitor would not give any better plea offer than “no recommendation” because of his criminal record. App. 54, ll. 10-14. Cooke said that he did not know “what that’s all about” because he did not have his personal notes. App. 54, ll. 14-16. Though there was a note about a letter e-mailed from the solicitor’s office on October 5, 2012, there was no information regarding the content of the correspondence. App. 54, ll. 17-20. There was also a note that on October 10, 2012, Robin, the investigator, sent a copy of a plea offer to Owens, but Cooke could not confirm that it was actually sent or received. App. 54, ll. 20-22; App. 58, l. 2 – 59, l. 19. Plea counsel “surmised” that the entries were referring to the amended plea offer since it was dated October 4, 2012. App. 54, l. 24 – 55, l. 1.

Cooke had no notes regarding whether Owens wanted to accept or reject the plea. However, the public defender’s office received a letter from Owens on October 22, 2012 requesting a jail visit, which Cooke assumed had to do with the plea offer. App. 55, ll. 2-9; App. 63, ll. 2-9. Even so, Cooke could not recall if visited Owens in response to the letter, and later admitted that the detention center visitation log shows that his only visits were on August 8, 2012 and December 4, 2012. App. 55, ll. 6-8; App. 60, ll. 2-15; see App. 68 (Pet’r’s Ex. 3, visitation log). There were also no entries in the database notes regarding any video conference with Owens. App. 60, l. 15 – 61, l. 5. Based Owens’ letter requesting a jail visit on October 22, 2012 and the State’s filing of the notice of intention to seek without parole on November 26, 2012, plea counsel said:

And, *apparently* – and this is just what *I’m surmising*. That was on 10/22, he wanted a jail visit. Well, on 11/26 -- *apparently* between 10/22 and 11/26, I told the solicitor that he was not going to accept the plea offer. And from reading the transcript, *I think* it had a lot to do with violent or nonviolent, how much time he was going to have to serve of the 12 years. And I never could get her off of the violent part. And that’s, basically, *I think* his whole objection during this whole thing.

So she finally got aggravated with me, *I guess*, or my client, but she wasn't going to come off of the violent. And that's when she served us notice with the intention to seek life without parole and it was put on the trial docket, no more negotiations. *I'm guessing that*. That's kind of how things go, *I'm just guessing*.

App. 55, ll. 8-23.

Though he had no independent recollection, Cooke said that Owens "would know" that there was no negotiated recommendation because his case was put on the trial docket. App. 56, ll. 2-12. He also did not "think" that he would have told Owens that the twelve year cap was still available. App. 56, ll. 2-16. With respect to the November 27, 2012 letter, Cooke said that if the plea offer had been included in the accompanying packet, it would have been specified in the letter. App. 56, l. 22 – 57, l. However, he admitted that he did not sign the letter and that it is "just something that's generated by the investigators and secretaries." App. 57, ll.

#### ***Order of Dismissal***

On August 13, 2014, Judge Stilwell issued an Order of Dismissal, denying Owens' PCR application. App. 69 – 75. The court found that "Applicant failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel did not properly convey the plea offer in this case." App. 73. He found plea counsel's testimony "more credible." App. 73. He further found that Owens "rejected any and all plea offers made by the State and was well aware on the day of the guilty plea that he would be pleading guilty without a sentence recommendation." App. 73. The court also stated that Owens' allegations are refuted by the guilty plea transcript. App. 73. Consequently, the PCR court found that Owens failed to meet the requirements of the Strickland<sup>3</sup> test to prove that plea counsel was ineffective. App. 73.

---

<sup>3</sup> Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

## Discussion

The State made a favorable plea offer to Owens for a cap of twelve years. App. 65-66 (Pet'r's Ex. 1, amended offer letter, Oct. 4, 2012). Plea counsel failed to timely and meaningfully convey that offer to Owens, especially where plea counsel did not advise Owens of the potential that the State could seek life without the possibility of parole based on Owens's criminal record. Plea counsel did not object to the State's failure to uphold the offer, and when Owens alerted plea counsel to his understanding that he was accepting the offer of the twelve year cap at the plea hearing, plea counsel failed to make a motion to withdraw the guilty plea. Due to plea counsel's deficient representation, Owens entered a guilty plea without a recommendation and was sentenced to a total of eighteen years. Thus, the PCR court erred in finding that plea counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). "Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, 'whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.' " Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88. "Under this prong, '[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.'" Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland,

466 U.S. at 688). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.

The United States Supreme Court has held that "[g]uilty pleas are no more foolproof than full trials to the court or jury. . . . Accordingly, we take great precautions against unsound results." Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 758 (1970).

A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.

Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (quoting Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009)); see also Hill, 474 U.S. at 59 (footnote omitted).

This Court has also held that "a defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process." Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 607, 675 S.E.2d 416, 419. "[A]s a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused." Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1408; see also Davie, 381 S.C. at 609, 675 S.E.2d at 420 (2009) (adopting "rule that counsel's failure to convey a plea offer constitutes deficient performance" and holding "counsel is required to *fully communicate* with the client so that the client can make an *informed decision* regarding any proposals by the State" (emphasis added)).

The Frye Court noted that the plea bargaining can benefit both parties by providing "[t]he potential to conserve valuable prosecutorial resources and for defendants to admit their crimes and receive more favorable terms at sentencing." 132 S.Ct. at 1407. The Court further stated

that “[i]n order that these benefits can be realized, however, criminal defendants require effective counsel during plea negotiations.” *Id.* at 1407-08. “Anything less might deny a defendant effective representation by counsel at the only stage when legal aid and advice would help him.” *Id.* at 1408 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

***A. There is no probative evidence that plea counsel timely communicated the State’s plea offer to Petitioner.***

In the present case, the PCR court found plea counsel Cooke “more credible” than Owens despite the absence of the case file and the lack of any independent recollection of the case. Cooke repeatedly said that he was guessing, surmising, assuming, or did not know in response to the questions at the PCR hearing. App. 53, ll. 19-20; App. 54, ll.14-16 and ll. 24-25; App. 55, ll. 8-9 and ll. 18-23; App. 58, l. 10; App. 59, l. 7-19; App. 60, ll. 15-22; App. 61, ll. 18-21. This type of ambiguous testimony does not provide the probative evidence required to support a PCR court’s findings. See *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 271 n.2, 701 S.E.2d 738, 740 n.2 (2010) (finding no probative evidence that trial counsel advised Simuel of his right to direct appeal or that Simuel waived his right to direct appeal because counsel’s testimony that he “probably” spoke with Simuel about an appeal “is not the same as affirmatively stating he spoke with Petitioner about an appeal”).

The only evidence that plea counsel presented regarding communication of the plea offer was a defender data note indicating that his investigator, Robin, sent a copy of a plea offer on October 10, 2012. Cooke said that he “*guess[es]*” that would have been the amended plea offer letter since it was received by his office five days prior. App. 54, l. 10 – 55, l. 1; App. 58, ll. 19-24; see App. 65 – 66 (Pet’r’s Ex. 1, amended offer letter, Oct. 4, 2012). However, prior to that Cooke testified that he *did not recognize* the plea offer letter. App. 53, ll. 17-22. Owens testified that he did not receive the plea offer until after November 27, 2012, when the plea offer letter was sent

along with a letter enclosing discovery. App. 37, l. 20 – 38, l. 20; App, 47, l. 25 – 48, l. 10; 49, ll. 18-25; see App. 67 (Pet’r’s Ex. 2, cover letter, Nov. 27, 2012). Owens admitted that the November 27, 2012 did not list the offer letter as one of the items enclosed but stated that he was “pretty sure” that the two came together and that he keeps copies of all of his paperwork. App. 38, ll. 7-13. Cooke testified that he “guarantee[s] nothing goes out of [the public defender’s] office without it being mentioned in the cover sheet.” There is, of course, no basis for such a guarantee, especially since plea counsel admitted that he did not send the November letter himself. App. 57, ll. 7-10. Thus, the record does not support the Court’s finding that the amended plea offer was sent to Owens on October 10, 2012.

***B. There is no probative evidence that plea counsel fully communicated the State’s plea offer such that Petitioner could make an informed decision, especially where the possibility of life without parole was not discussed until after expiration of the offer.***

Even if this Court finds that there was sufficient evidence to support the PCR court’s finding that a copy of the offer letter was sent out on October 10, 2012, the inquiry as to plea counsel’s effectiveness should not end there. Assuming *arguendo* that the offer was sent to Owens on October 10, 2012, the evidence reveals that Cooke failed to discuss the plea offer with Owens prior to its expiration. Additionally, Owens was not advised of the potential of a life without parole sentence until it was too late to accept the State’s plea offer.

In Davie v. State, this Court held that “counsel is required to *fully communicate* with the client so that the client can make an *informed decision* regarding any proposals by the State.” 381 S.C. at 609, 675 S.E.2d at 420. Plea counsel in Davie admitted that he never communicated the State’s plea offer to Davie due to its being sent to his prior post office box. 381 S.C. at 606, 675 S.E.2d at 419. Thus, in light of the complete absence of communication, Davie did not address what is required to “fully communicate” an offer so that a client can make an “informed decision.”

Undoubtedly, full communication requires that it be timely and more than simply forwarding the State's offer letter to the client.

There is no probative evidence that Cooke had any discussion with Owens about the plea offer prior to its expiration. Owens testified that he made many attempts to contact plea counsel but he was never available to accept his call. App. 40, ll. 12-24. Though he did not know the subject matter that Owens wanted to discuss, Cooke testified to a defender date notation that they received a letter from Owens requesting a jail visit on October 22, 2012. App. 55, l. 9; App. 59, 2-15. Despite the expiration of the State's offer on October 27, 2012, plea counsel did not visit Owens until December 4, 2012. App. 68 (Pet'r's Ex. 3, visitation log). Plea counsel had no record of any other video conference or other communication with Owens regarding the plea offer. App. 60, l. 15 – 61, l. 16. Further, plea counsel's general statement that he "usually" "end[s] up" talking about a plea offer with his client "at some point" is not the same as affirmatively stating that he fully communicated the plea offer to Owens. See App. 54, ll. 5-6.

The plea transcript does indicate that both Owens and Cooke were aware of the offer at some point prior to the plea hearing. See App. 8, l. 21 – 9, l. 2; App. 15, l. 23 – 16, l. 3. The statements made by Owens and plea counsel at the plea hearing are significant. Chiefly, contrary to the PCR court's findings, Owens' PCR allegations are not "refuted by the guilty plea transcript." See App. 73 (Order of Dismissal, p. 5). His statement that he was "wrestlin' [sic] with" the amended offer because of the classification of the crime as violent was not an indication of his rejection of the plea. App. 8, ll. 21-25. He then said that "under the circumstances I just want to get this over with," indicating that he decided to accept the offer even with the violent classification. App. 9, ll. 1-2. The court asked Owens if "*other than negotiations regarding this plea*, has anybody promised you any money or gifts, -- anything like that to induce you into pleading guilty,"

to which Owens responded “no.” App. 9, ll. 8-13 (emphasis added). No one took the opportunity to clarify to Owens that the twelve year cap was no longer a part of the plea deal. Plea counsel’s and Owens’ later requests for mercy is also consistent with Owens’ belief that the negotiation was for a twelve year cap, such that the court could give him less than the twelve year maximum. App. 16, l. 10-14; App. 18, ll. 13-15.

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