STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 27 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001950

Timothy Lee Owens, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel did not properly convey the plea offer in this case.

Petitioner argues plea counsel was ineffective because he did not properly convey the twelve-year plea offer or object when the State did not make a sentence recommendation at the plea hearing. This argument is without merit.

A.

At the guilty plea hearing, Petitioner admitted to the plea judge that he was guilty of these charges. (App.p.10). Petitioner told the plea judge that he understood the trial rights he was waiving in pleading guilty, was satisfied with counsel, and had not been coerced into pleading guilty. (App.pp.2-3; p.5; pp.7-10). Petitioner did not object when it was noted he was pleading guilty without a recommendation. (App.p.3). Petitioner also admitted he wanted a ten-year offer for non-violent charges but the State made a plea offer for a twelve-year cap. (App.pp.8-9). Petitioner stated he “was wrastlin’ with that” because of the second-degree burglary (violent) charge but that

under the circumstances I just want to get this over with, I wanna get everything behind me so I can go on and make my life better in the future, you know, I’m not – I’m tired of this hangin’ over me, I’m tired of tyin’ up the county’s time and money, I just wanna get it all over with. I’ve made a lotta mistakes in my life and I’d just like to get it all behind me.

(App.pp.8-9).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner identified a plea offer letter from the State dated October 4, 2012.¹ (App.p.36). Petitioner stated he received this plea offer from the

¹ Exhibit 1. (App.pp.65-66).

public defender's office with a cover letter dated November 27, 2012,² and that it had expired by that point. (App.pp.36-38). Petitioner stated he wanted to accept this 12-year offer but that he never spoke to counsel about it. (App.pp.39-40). Petitioner stated plea counsel told him on December 4, 2012 that he would appear before a judge to plead guilty and accept the 12-year cap. (App.pp.42-43). Petitioner stated that, even though the assistant solicitor stated at the plea hearing that there was no recommendation, he believed he would receive that 12-year recommendation. (App.p.50).

Plea counsel testified he could not locate his file, so he was relying upon information on the case that was entered into the defender database used by the public defender's office. (App.p.53; p.58). Plea counsel testified that, when he receives a plea offer and his client is at the detention center, he mails it or has it delivered by an investigator. (App.pp.53-54). Plea counsel testified that, as of August 27, 2012, the State did not want to make any plea offers because of Petitioner's criminal record. (App.p.54). Plea counsel testified he received a plea offer from the State dated October 4, 2012³ and his investigator sent a copy of the offer to Petitioner on October 10, 2012. (App.pp.54-55). Plea counsel testified there was a note on October 22, 2012 that Petitioner wanted a jail visit and he believed this would have been to discuss the offer. (App.p.55; p.59). Plea counsel testified he told the State by November 26, 2012 that Petitioner would not accept the offer. (App.p.55). Plea counsel testified he believed this was because the State would not consider a non-violent charge. (App.p.55). Plea counsel testified he believed

² Exhibit 2. (App.p.67).

³ Exhibit 1.

the State then served notice of intent to seek life imprisonment without parole and put the matter on the trial docket. (App.p.55). Plea counsel testified he would not have told Petitioner on the day of the plea that the twelve-year offer was still available. (App.p.56). Plea counsel identified Exhibit 2 as a cover letter sent by his office and stated such a letter “is going to point out exactly what the public defender’s office is sending. If [the plea offer] had been in this letter, it would have been mentioned.” Plea counsel stated “I guarantee you nothing goes out of that office without it being mentioned in the cover sheet.” (App.p.57).

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel did not properly convey the plea offer in this case.” The PCR judge found credible plea counsel’s testimony that the plea offer was sent to Petitioner in October 2012. The PCR judge found Petitioner “rejected any and all plea offers made by the State and was well aware on the day of the guilty plea that he would be pleading guilty without a sentence recommendation.” The PCR judge found the plea transcript refuted Petitioner’s allegations. (App.p.73).

B.

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel’s ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). When there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove that counsel’s representation was below the

standard of reasonableness and that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59, 106 S. Ct. 366, 370 (1985); Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

C.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel did not properly convey the twelve-year plea offer. While Petitioner stated he did not receive the plea offer until November 27, 2012, plea counsel testified his investigator sent Petitioner a copy of the offer on October 10, 2012. Plea counsel testified the plea offer would not have been sent under the November 27, 2012 cover letter because that cover letter did not list the plea offer as an attachment. Plea counsel did not have his physical file but indicated the database notes would have had him meet Petitioner in late October and that it would likely have been to review the plea offer. Plea counsel testified he informed the State at the end of November 2012 that Petitioner rejected the plea offer. The PCR judge did not err in finding plea counsel properly conveyed the plea offer in this case. See Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009) (holding counsel's failure to convey the State's plea offer to defendant constituted deficient performance).

Further, the PCR judge directly observed testimony from both Petitioner and plea counsel and determined plea counsel's testimony was more credible. (App.p.73). This Court must give this finding great deference. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993); see also Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368

S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved.”). In observing testimony from both Petitioner and plea counsel, the PCR judge clearly concluded Petitioner’s argument that he did not receive the plea offer until November 27, 2012 – which was after the offer’s expiration date – was not believable.

Regardless, the guilty plea transcript refutes Petitioner’s argument. Petitioner told the plea judge the State made a recommendation for a 12-year cap but he wanted a 10-year offer on non-violent charges. Petitioner indicated he was having difficulty with this. At no point, however, did Petitioner tell the plea judge that the offer had not been conveyed to him prior to its expiration. Rather, Petitioner stated he was satisfied with plea counsel’s representation and wanted to plead guilty and get these charges behind him. As such, the plea transcript repudiates Petitioner’s assertion that plea counsel did not properly convey the 12-year plea offer to him prior to its expiration date. See Stalk v. State, 375 S.C. 289, 300, 652 S.E.2d 402, 407 (Ct. App. 2007); see also Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 48-49, 443 S.E.2d 805, 806 (1994) (where transcript of guilty plea proceeding refuted applicant’s claim that he did not understand the terms of a plea bargain, grant of PCR was inappropriate notwithstanding applicant’s claim lawyer misadvised him).

D.

Petitioner also argues plea counsel was ineffective because he did not move to withdraw Petitioner’s guilty pleas. (Cert. Pet., pp.16-18). This argument, however, it not

preserved for appeal because it is not addressed in the order of dismissal. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”); see also Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (holding an issue is procedurally barred if it is not both raised to and ruled upon by the PCR judge) (citing Hyman v. State, 278 S.C. 501, 299 S.E.2d 330 (1983)). While there was some testimony at the PCR hearing on this matter, as Petitioner did not file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion to alter or amend the order to include a specific ruling on the issue, it is not preserved for appellate review. See Noisette v. Ismail, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991) (holding that where a trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument raised, and appellant makes no Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue).

E.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that plea counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by plea counsel’s performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of plea counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

CONCLUSION


For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.